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INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT FOR THE
WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI
SOUTHERN DIVISION

Goans Acquisition, Inc. )
)
Plaintiff, )
) Civil Action Number
V. ) 12-00539-CV-S-JTM
)
Merchant Solutions, LLC, et al., )
)
Defendants. )
ORDER

On May 11, 2012, plaintiff Goans Acquisition, Inc. (“Goans”) instituted the present

federal litigation against defendant Merchant Solutions, LLC (“MercBahitions”)?
According toits COMPLAINT, Goans maintains a business location in Greene County, Missouri,
that includes telephone service with the capability of sending and receiangimife
transmission (“fax”). Goans alleges that in July of 2009, Merchant Solutiongicause
unsolicited fax advertisement to be sent to Goans’ business location. Thagmtax was
addressed to “Automotive Store Owners” and offéheain assistance with getting througle
“economic crunch” by offering the possibility of a “cash advance.” The fax &lteds

To opt out from future faxes go toavw.removemyfaxnumber.com

enter PIN# 15298, or call 877-284-7886. The recipient may make

a request to the sender not to send any future faxes and that failure
to comply withthe request within 30 days is unlawful.

Goans’ @WMPLAINT does not indicate whether it “opted out” of receiving further faxes, but the
particularone-page fax addressed to “Automotive Store Owners” apparently was sent to Goans

on only the one occasion.

! Two other defendants, Daniel Eastman and Brian Bartos, were previously

dismissed by the Court for lack of personal jurisdiction.
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Goans’ @MPLAINT alleges that thenetime transmission of the ongage fax addressed
to “Automotive Store Owners” is actionabl@riginally, Goansassertedive alleged causes of
action However, the Court previously dismissed three of Goans’ causetai. Still
remaining before the Court are Goaakegations that the fax transmission constituted

(2) aviolation of the Telephone Consumer Protection Act (“TCPA"),
47 U.S.C. § 227and

(2) conversion under Missouri state tort law.

As to bothremaining causes of actioBpans seeks injunctive relief, damages, and the
certification of a class action undegp. R. Civ. P. 23 for “all persons to whom Defendants
transmitted unsolicited facsimile advertisements between August 24, 2005, aliatktfie]
Complaint was filed.” Presently pending before the Cisuttte motion of Merchant Solutions to
dismiss the remaining claims asserted against it pursugabt®. Civ. P.12(b)(1). For the
reasons set out herein, the motion to dismiss is grantettimnd denieth part.

Goans first filed amdenticalaction against Merchant Solutions over this particular one-
page fax in the Circuit Court of Greene County, Missdh&,month after the subject fax was
sent on August 24, 2009Goans Acquisition, Inc. v. Merchant Solutio@sise No. 0931-
CV12823 (Mo. Cir. Ct[Greene Cty). On February 2, 2012, Merchant Solutions tendered an
offer of judgmentpursuant to M. R.Civ. P.77.04 to Goans “in the amount of $20,000.00 and
costs allowed by law which taa been incurred to date in this cause.” Goans did not accept the
offer of judgment. Thereafter, Merchant Solutions moved the state court to dismissdhe act
for mootness. On April 16, 2012, before the motionligmisswas ruled upon by the state cu
Goans dimissed its caseithout prejudice as permitted under Missouri law. Although the state
coutt case (like the case before tlisurt) plead for the creation of a class action, during the

two-andonehalf years that the case was pending, Goawsrrmaoved for classertification



Four weeksfter dismissing the state court case May 11, 2012, Goans filed the
present action with this Court. Nearly six months later, on November 1, 2012, Merchant
Solutions tendered an offer of judgment purswareDd. R. Civ. P.68 to Goans “in the amount
of $20,000.00 and costs allowed by law which have been incurred to date in this cause.” Again,
Goans made no effort to accept the offer (by rule, the offer was open foraameefur 14 days).
On December 172012, Merchant Solutions then filed the presently pending motionrtosdis
On January 2, 2013, Goans asked the Court to extend its deadline to respond to the motion to
dismissto January 14, 2013. The Court granted the motion. However, it wastihdflarch
18, 2013, that Merchant Solutions respondetthéanotion? One month later, on April 15,
2015, Goans moved the Court for class certification with regard to the TCPA.
The TCPA creates a private right of action under which a party can brirtg secover
its “actual monetary loss” or “to receive $500 in damages” per violation, whiclsegerater.
47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3)(B). If the violation was willful or knowing, the TCPA allows a court, in
its discretion, to “increase the amount of the award to an amount equal to not more than 3 time
the amount available under subparagraph i(B) 500 per violatiorf] 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3).
In a nutshell, Merchant Solutions argues that its unaccepted offer of judgmeanttheookaims
asserted in tiilitigation by Goans, depriving the Court of subject matter jurisdiction.
Mostfederalcircuits have found that an offer of judgment that would provide all the
relief a plaintiff requestéor is entitled tohas the effect of mooting the action everhé btffer is
not acceptedsee, e.g., Warren v. Sessoms & Rogers, B7A.F.3d 365, 370-71 (4th Cir. 2012);

O'Brien v. Ed Donnelly Enters,/5 F.3d 567, 575-76 (6th Cir. 2009))omas v. Law Firm of

2 On that date, Merchant Solutions filed its proposed response along with a motion

for leave tdfile the pleading out-ofime, noting that the prior deadline “was simply missed.”
The Court grants the motion for leave and acceptktbéiled response to the motion to
dismiss.



Simpson & Cybak244 FedAppx. 741, 743-44 (7th Cir. 200@5oodman v. People's Bar2Q9
Fed.Appx. 111, 115 (3d Cir. 2006). The source for this conclusion lies in the Supreme Court’s
explanation of mootness under Article 11l of the Constitution.

Article Il of the Constitution only allows federal courtsddjudicate actual, ongoing
cases or controversie®eakins v. Monaghar84 U.S. 193, 199, 108 S.Ct. 523, 528 (1988);
Preiser v. Newkirk422 U.S. 395, 401, 95 S.Ct. 2330, 2334 (197%)e caseor-controversy
requirement ensures that “seiterested arties vigorously advocating opposing positions”
present issueSn a concrete factual settinglnited States Parole Comm'n v. Geragl%5
U.S. 388, 403, 100 S.Ct. 1202, 1212 (1980). Moreovef'ctmeor-controversy requirement
subsists through all stages of federal judicial proceedings, trial and appékates v. Contl'l
Bank Corp, 494 U.S. 472, 477, 110 S.Ct. 1249, 1253 (1990). Thus, if at any point in the
litigation, an action no longer satisfies the caseontroversy requirement, the actismrmoot
and a federal court must dismiss the acti©ompare Minnesota Humane Soc'y v. Cldig4
F.3d 795, 797 (8th Cir.1999).

Article IlI of theConstitution thus, “requires parties to have a continuipgrsonal stake
in the outcomedf the lawsuit. Potter v. Norwest Mortg., Inc.329 F.3d 608, 611 (8th Cir.
2003) quoting in part, Baker v.Carr, 369 U.S. 186, 204, 82 S.Ct. 69D03(1962)).Such a
“personal stake” requirement “serves primarily the purpose of assurinfigdieaal courts are
presetted with disputes they are capable of resolvigtaghty 445 U.S. at 397, 100 S.Git
1209. Merchant Solutions argues in its motion to dismiss that Goans’ case is moat bibeaus
most [Goans] could recover from [Merchant Solutions] for the fax wikielleged to have been

received by [Goans] in violation of the TCPA is $1,500.00.”



In response, Goans notes that Merchant Solutions’ offer of judgment is only exf] ‘toff
pay $20,000.00 in damages and court costs on [Goans’] claim for violatioe DEPA.”>
Goans argues that the motiordismissmust be denied because it also seeks (1) damages for
conversion under state law, (2) injunctive relief under the TCPA, and (3) class r@tief. The
Court will address each contention in turn.
With regard to the allegations regarding the state law conversion claim, Geanet
— but only to a point. The fact that Goans seeks a recovery for conversion that is nat bgvere
the offer of judgment from Merchant Solutions does mean that a motisnidss the entire
case is unwarrantedComparePowell v. McCormack395 U.S. 486, 496, 89 S.Ct. 1944, 1951
(1969)(“Where several forms of relief are requested and one of these requests sulysequent
becomes moot, the Court .still [may] considef] the remaining requests. However, as
recently reasonelly another district court:
[The defendant’spffer to fully satisfy[the plaintiff's] TCPA claim
deprivedthe plaintiff] of a personal stake in the outcome of that
claim.. .. The fact [the defendankias not also offered to resolve
[the plaintiff's other]claim is irrelevant.[The plaintiff] appears to
believe mootness is an-@t-nothing concept; either an entire case

is moot, or it is not. This belief has no basis. Mootness is assessed
by clam, not by case.

3 The parties are in agreement that both of the offers of judgment from Merchant

Solutions wee addressed to the TCPA clairmkhough the offers themselves do not seem so
constrained The text of the offerigudgment [Doc. 343] states:

COMES NOW Defendant Merchants Solutions, LLC and pursuant
to FED.R.QV.P. 68, hereby makes Plaintiff Goans Acquisition, Inc. an offer
of judgment in the amount of $20,000.00 and costs allowed by law which
have been incurredtdate in this cause. This Offer of Judgment is made
for the purposes specified HED.R.Qv.P. 68, and is not to be construed as
an admission that Defendant is liable in this action, that Plaintiff has
suffered any damages, or that Defendant is indebted in any way to
Plaintiff.

Neverthelesshie Court will accept the partieimterpretation.
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Masters v. Wells Fargo Bank South Cent., N2813 WL 3713492, op. at *4 (W.Dex.Jul. 11,
2013). Thus, to the extent that Merchant Solutions’ motion toiggsseeks to gniss Goans’
conversion claim, it is denied. However, the continuing presence of the conversion claim does
not necessarily defeat the motion to dismiss for mootnassedates to Goans’ TCPA claim.

In this caseas part of its TCPA clainGoans seeks “a preliminary and permanent
injunction prohibiting [Merchant &@utions] from transmitting unsolicited facsimile
transmissions.” Goans correctly argues that the offer of judgment fronhderSolutions does
not address this request for injunctive relief and, thus, the Tel& is not mooted by the Rule
68 offer. While the argument has some superficial appeal, it is fatally flawed in onalcritic
respect-the injunctive relief sought by Gas cannot be granted by the Court.

Without question, under the TCPA, “[pJate parties are authorized to seek injunctive
relief and statutory damages for violatibn®shland Hosp. Corp. v. Service Employees Intern.
Union, Dist, 708 F.3d 737, 741 (6th Cir. 2013); 47 U.S.C. 8§ 227JtH(3 However, the
injunctive relief available under the statute is limite@ctiors to enjoin violations of the TCPA.
Goans seeks an injunction enjoining Merchant Solutions from seadingnsolicited facsimile
transmissions Such an injunction would be of dubious constitutionality. More importantly,
such an injunction is not within tleeqe of the TCPA. The statute prohgihe ‘Use any
telephone facsimile machine, computer, or other device to send, to a telephongefacsim
machine, an unsolicited advertiseniamless

(2) the unsolicited advertisement is from a sender with an estedlish
business relationship with the recipient;

2 the sender obtained the number of the telephone facsimile machine
through—



@ the voluntary communication of such number, within the
context of such established business relationship, from the
recipiert of the unsolicited advertisement, or

(b) a directory, advertisement, or site on the Internet to which
the recipient voluntarily agreed to make available its
facsimile number for public distributioand

(©)) the unsolicited advertisement contains aagomeeting the
requirementset out in the TCPA.

47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(C)(i#i). Moreover, the statute excemiases of an unsolicited
advertisement that is sent based on an established business relationship witpi¢me tieat

was in existencbefore July 9, 2005 i the sender possessed the facsimile machine number of
the recipient before such date of enactmem U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(C)(ll) . While the TCPA
limits the ability of entitiego send unsoliciteddvertisementby facsimile, t does not prohibit

all such transmissions. As such, the statute does not authorize injunctive edlied s

unlimited prophylactic prohibition such as that sought by Goans.

Because the injunctive relief sought®gansis in and ofitself outside tk Court’s
jurisdiction the failure of the offer of judgment to address the claim is meaningless. An
illustrative case islones v. CBE Group, In215 F.R.D. 558 (D. Minn. 2003). llonesthe
plaintiff brought an action against a debt collector purstathe Fair Debt Collection Practices
Act (“FDCPA”), 15 U.S.C. 88 169&t seq After the suit was filed, the debt collector tendered a
Rule 68 offer of judgment that would compensate the plaintiff for the maximonetary
damages available under the ®BRA. When the plaintiff did not accept the offer, the debt
collector moved to dismiss the case as moot.

In ruling on the motion to dismiss, the district court correctly observed thatelod us

Rule 68 offers to moot cases was necessarily confinedruotad class of ases:



It is clear that a Rule 68 offer can only moot a plaintiff's claim in
circumstances where damages are absolutely determinate.
Examples include cases where plaintiff's claim is for a fixed sum,
or where, as is the case here, thegestatutory cap on damages.

Id. at562 n.2. The court found that the FDCPA (like the TCPA herein) met this basic
requirement. However, the court also had to consider another isghether the offer of
judgmentfrom the debt collector resolved all of the plaintiff's claims. To that end, tiiffla
argued that the offer of judgment did not address his claims for a declaratanejudgrlhe
court rejected the argument, reasoning:

Courts have uniformly held that injunctive relief is not available in

private actions under the FDCPA.. Thereforejt cannot be said

that [the debt collector’s] Rule 68 offer failed to afford complete

relief on the basis that it did not provide declaratory relief, since
that remedy was unavailable to plaintiff

Id. & 563 emphasis addgd Analogously, in this case, Goans’ improperly broad request for
injunctive relief is not aiable claim and, thus, need not be included in a valid offer of judgment.
Finally, the Court turns to the final argument raised by Gowragly, that the offer of
judgment does not afford complete relief because it does not address the paderdigeshat
may arise if a class action is certified in this caBee issue of whether an unaccepted Rule 68
offer of judgment can moot a caseolving class action allegations has been the subject of
much litigation.
In Hartis v. Chicago Title Insurance C&94 F.3d 935 (8th Cir. 2012), the plaintiffs
brough claims on behalf of themselves and a putative class alleging overch@fo®i®) by
the defendant Title Company. After the case was removed to federal courtfribeatiart: (1)
denied the plaintiffs’ motion to remand the case to state court, (2) denied thiéfglagtuest
for class certification, (3) denied the plaintiffs’ tram to amend to add a claim for punitive

damagesand (4) granted the Title Company’s motion to dismiss following an unaccepted off



of judgment. The plaintiffs appealsdveral of thalistrict court’s rulingsincluding the order
granting the motion tdismiss. In affirming the dmissal the court reiterated a basic rule:
Judgment should be entered against a putative class representative
on a defendant's offer of payment where class certification has
been properly denied and the offer satisfiesrepresentative's
entire demand for injuries and costs of the suit.
Id. at949 @uotingAlpern v. UtiliCorp. United, Inc.84 F.3d 1525, 1539 (8th Cir.1996)

In Hartis andAlpern, the offers of judgment canadterthe district court ruled on the
request for class certification. Thus, the issue before the Court herein is wihethender and
rejection of an offer of judgment pritw the plaintiff asking for class certification changes the
result. Under théactsof this case, the Court concludes it does not.

TheCourt (while acknowledging that there is a split among the Circuits) finds the
reasoningf the Seventh Circuit iDamasco v. Clearwater Cor62 F.3d 891 (7th Cir. 2011)
to be persuasive. Damascoa plaintiff brought an action under the TCPA on behalf of himself
and a putative class of individuals who received unsolicited cell phone text neksagée
defendant. Prior to the plaintiff moving for class certification, the defendaredfto settle the
case for an amount in exsesf the maximum daages he could obtain under the TCPA. The
plaintiff refused the settleemt offer (which was not reduced to a formal Rule 68 offer of
judgment). After the offer was refused, in rapid succession, (1) the defendant remeveabh
to feceral court, (2) the plaintiff moved for class certification, and (3) the defémdaved to
dismiss. After the district court dismissed the case, the plaintiff appealed.

On appeal, the plaintiff argued that the dismissal by the district court waspenpro

because the case was not moot bectneseontroversy remained livig, that:

(1) defendants should be prohibited from mooting a potential class action
by buying off named plaintiffs through “involuntary” settlements,



(2)  the claim involved wa&nherently transitory”-thatis, bound to
become moot befor@classcould becertified— such that the
plaintiff's motion for certification should “relate back” to the filing of
his complaint, and

(3) thesettlemenbffer was not made pursuant to Rule 68 which would
have afforded the plaintiff 14 days to ask the court to certify the class
and avoid mootness.
Id. at893-94 The court rejectethearguments (the first two of which are relevant to this case).
With regard to the plaintiff's argument for an exceptiothimootness doctrinfr
potential class action litigatiptheDamascacourt concluded that tH@onstitutionprovided no
such flexibility:
To allow a case, not certified as a class action and with no motion
for class certification even pending, to continue in federal court
when the sole plaintiff no longer maintains a personal stake defies
the limits on federal jurisdiction expressed in Article Mhat the
complaint identifies the suit as a class action is not enough by itself
to keep the ase in federal courtEven when a complaint clearly
and in great detail describes the suit as a class action suit, if the
plaintiff does not seek class certification, then dismissal of the
plaintiff's claim terminates the suit. Aftghe defendantinadeits
offer, [the plaintiff’'s TCPA]case was over.
Id. at896 (itations omittedl Moreover, the Court noted that the plaintiff's concerns about the
possible “buy-off’ of class action plaintiffs was easiyneliorated”Classaction plaintiffs can
move tocertify the class at the same time that they file their complaint. The pendethey of
motion protects a putative class from attempts to buy off the named pldinkiffs.
TheDamascacourt also rejected outright any contention that the TCPA claims before it

were inherently transitory.

4 The Court further noted that even if plaintiffavenot fully developed facts

supporting certification at the time of filinghen then they can also ask thstdct court to
delay its ruling to provide time for additional discovery or investigdtiddamasco 662 F.3d at
896.
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For a claim to be inherently transitory, uncertainty must exist over
whether any member of the class would maintain a live controversy
long enough for a judge to certify a clagss we have discussed, any
class membeollowing in [the plaintiff's] footsteps can avoid the
barrier he now faces simply by moving to certify a class when filing
suit. We discern no other obstacle that would moot a casgHike
plaintiff's] before a judge could rule on certification.

Id. at897 gitations omittedl

This Court adopts the rationale articulated by Bl@nascocourt and, as such, finds that
Goans’ alleged TCPA alm became moot before any motion for class certification was made to
this Court. Inasmuch as the TCPA is moot,Gloairt accordingly lacks subject matter
jurisdiction over the claim.

While the Court adopts the reasonindgoaimascat also notest would reach the same
result under theontraryline of cases. The leading casehis regards Weiss v. Regal
Collections 385 F.3d 337 (3d Cir. 2004). Weiss the court articulated a basic rule:

Absent undue delaw filing a motion for class certification,
therefore, where a defendant makes a Rule 68 offer to an
individual claim that has the effect of mooting possitibss relief

asserted in the complaint, the appropriate course is to relate the
certification motion back to the filing of the class complaint

Id. at348 emphasis adde¢d With regard to undue delay, there is no set formula for determining
timeliness;however, the primary guidance appears to whether the plaintiff has hadsonable
opportunity to compile a record necessary to support a motion for class destificd/ega v.
Credit Bureau Enters2003 WL 21544258, op. at *2 (E.D.N.Y. July 9, 200Sge alsdMorgan
v. Account Collection Technology, LLLQ006 WL 2597865p. at*8 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 6, 2006)
Nasca v. GC Servs. Ltd. Partnersha®02 WL 31040647, op. at *2 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 12, 2002).

In this case, Goansas first presented with an aff judgment on February 2, 2012. At

that time, Goans’ state court case had been pending for nearnthame-half years, more than
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enough time for Goans to have compiled a record to support class certificationveidd@ans
did not then move foelass certification. Nor did Goans move fidass certification in response
to Merchant Solutions’ motion to dismiss filed in the state court on April 3, 2012. Nor did
Goans move foclass certificatiowhen refiling this case in federal court on May 11, 2012. Nor
did Goans movéor class certification when Merchant Solutions again made an offer of
judgment on November 1, 2012. Nor did Goans move for class certification when Merchant
Solutions filed its present motion to dismiss with the Court on December 17, RR@12ad
Goans only moved for class certification on April 15, 2013 — over tmd®nehalf years from
initially instituting a “class action” suit against Merchant Solutions. The Court concludes that
even ifit followed the “relation back” line of cases (likéeis3, Goans’ TCPA claim would still
be deemed to be moot.

Inasmuch as Goans’ present motion for class certification is based sotbly 6CPA —
the underlying TCPA claim of Goans being mooted, the Court denies classatgwht
Anderson v. CNH U.S. Pension Pl&15 F.3d 823, 826 (8th Cir. 2008)n a class action,
dismissal on mootness grounds normally is required when the named plaintifis' lmécome
moot prior to a decision on class certification.”

In accordance with thefegoing analysis and reasoning, it is

ORDERED thatMerchant Solutions motion to dismiss [Doc. 33GRANTED with
respect to Goans’ TCPA claim aB&ENIED with respect to the remaining conversion claim.
Accordingly, it is further

ORDERED that Goans’ motion for class certification [Doc. 42DiENIED.

/s/ John T. Maughmer
John T. Maughmer
United States M agistrate Judge
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